ANNUAL REVIEWS

Annual Review of Nutrition

Coffee, Caffeine, and Health Outcomes: An Umbrella Review

Giuseppe Grosso,^{1,2} Justyna Godos,^{1,3} Fabio Galvano,³ and Edward L. Giovannucci^{4,5,6}

¹Integrated Cancer Registry of Catania-Messina-Siracusa-Enna, Catania 95123, Italy; email: giuseppe.grosso@studium.unict.it

²NNEdPro Global Centre for Nutrition and Health, St. John's Innovation Centre, Cambridge CB4 0WS, United Kingdom

³Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania, Catania 95124, Italy; email: justyna.godos@uj.edu.pl, fgalvano@unict.it

⁴Department of Epidemiology, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts 02115; email: egiovann@hsph.harvard.edu

 $^5 \mathrm{Department}$ of Nutrition, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts 02115

⁶Channing Division of Network Medicine, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts 02115

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2017. 37:131-56

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at nutr.annual reviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071816-064941

Copyright © 2017 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved



Download figures as PPT slides

- Navigate linked references
- Download citations
- Explore related articles
 Sparsh konwords
- Search keywords

Keywords

coffee, caffeine, cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disease

Abstract

To evaluate the associations between coffee and caffeine consumption and various health outcomes, we performed an umbrella review of the evidence from meta-analyses of observational studies and randomized controlled trials (RCTs). Of the 59 unique outcomes examined in the selected 112 metaanalyses of observational studies, coffee was associated with a probable decreased risk of breast, colorectal, colon, endometrial, and prostate cancers; cardiovascular disease and mortality; Parkinson's disease; and type-2 diabetes. Of the 14 unique outcomes examined in the 20 selected meta-analyses of observational studies, caffeine was associated with a probable decreased risk of Parkinson's disease and type-2 diabetes and an increased risk of pregnancy loss. Of the 12 unique acute outcomes examined in the selected 9 metaanalyses of RCTs, coffee was associated with a rise in serum lipids, but this result was affected by significant heterogeneity, and caffeine was associated with a rise in blood pressure. Given the spectrum of conditions studied and the robustness of many of the results, these findings indicate that coffee can be part of a healthful diet.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	132
METHODS	133
Study Selection	133
Data Extraction	133
Data Evaluation	133
RESULTS	134
Meta-Analyses of Observational Studies of Coffee or Caffeine Intake	
and Health Outcomes	135
Meta-Analyses of Randomized Controlled Trials of Coffee Consumption	
or Caffeine Intake and Health Outcomes	140
Summary of Evidence from Observational Studies and Randomized	
Controlled Trials	140
DISCUSSION	143
Antioxidant Properties of Coffee	144
Coffee and Microbiota	145
Coffee and Cancer	145
Coffee and Liver Health	146
Coffee and Metabolic Health	146
Coffee and Cardiovascular Health	146
Coffee and Lithiasis	146
Coffee and Mental Health	147
Potential Detrimental Effects of Coffee and Caffeine Consumption	147
LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	147
IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH EXPERTS	
AND FUTURE RESEARCH	148

INTRODUCTION

Coffee, among the most commonly consumed beverages worldwide, has been demonstrated to exert a number of effects on human health (41). The association between coffee consumption and a variety of conditions and diseases has been examined extensively, often with contrasting results. The main safety concerns arise in regard to its caffeine content; caffeine is the most widely consumed physiological stimulant worldwide, with side effects that may affect cardiovascular outcomes (156). The caffeine content has been considered mainly responsible for cardiovascular effects due to its ability to raise blood pressure as a result of increases in total peripheral resistance. However, the short duration of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) has emphasized mostly the acute effects of coffee consumption, and observational studies have often lacked adequate controls for confounding factors (i.e., smoking status) that may contribute to the negative outcomes associated with coffee consumption. Nonetheless, improvements in analytic techniques have uncovered numerous potentially beneficial compounds in coffee, including antioxidant polyphenols, which are highly concentrated in coffee (82). These findings have attracted a growing scientific audience aimed at finding potential beneficial effects of coffee. During the past 20 years, a number of studies on a broad range of outcomes in addition to cardiovascular-related conditions, such as cancer and overall mortality, suggested that coffee may exert beneficial effects on human health. These

results are of great interest from a public health standpoint due to the high frequency of coffee drinking.

There is a need to address the broad scope of benefits and issues related to coffee consumption and health, and to describe the evidence comprehensively but concisely to decision-makers. Thus, we evaluated the content of and findings from meta-analyses of observational studies and RCTs that examined associations between coffee consumption or caffeine intake and any clinical condition. We summarized the pooled results of observational studies and RCTs, and evaluated the consistency of findings and evidence of potential bias throughout the studies.

METHODS

Study Selection

For this umbrella review, we search MEDLINE and Embase for quantitative reviews of coffee consumption or administration and any health outcome from inception to August 2016. The search terms were "coffee," "caffeine," and "meta-analysis"; only studies conducted on humans and articles in English were considered eligible for review. The search was independently performed by two authors (G.G. and J.G.) and any discrepancies were resolved by discussion. The following types of studies were included: (*a*) meta-analyses of observational studies considering coffee consumption or caffeine intake as the exposure variable of interest and any health outcome and (*b*) meta-analyses of RCTs assessing the effects of coffee or caffeine administration from any source and for any clinical outcome. The following types of studies were excluded: (*a*) studies in which coffee consumption, was part of the outcome, (*b*) studies on genetic polymorphisms related to coffee consumption, (*c*) studies that evaluated the prevalence of coffee consumption, (*d*) RCTs that combined coffee administration with other treatments.

Data Extraction

From each eligible meta-analysis, the following information was abstracted: name of the first author and year of publication, outcome, design of included studies (including case-control, crosssectional and prospective), type of coffee (any or decaffeinated), number of studies included, total population, number of cases, measure of exposure [including highest versus lowest (reference) category of exposure, second and third highest versus lowest (reference) category of exposure, incremental cups/day (linear), dose-response per cup or fixed dose], effect sizes (risk ratio, odds ratio, hazard ratio, or standardized weighted difference). Outcomes were categorized as cancer, cardiovascular, and other.

Data Evaluation

Whenever more than one meta-analysis was conducted using the same outcome, and the same study design and type of population, concordance was evaluated for the main outcome of interest, including concordance in the direction and magnitude of the association by comparing risk estimates and confidence intervals. For further analyses, the most recent or most exhaustive study was considered. When more than one study design was evaluated, results were considered and reported in the following order of importance: (*a*) meta-analyses of prospective studies, (*b*) comprehensive prospective and case-control studies, and (*c*) case-control studies. The pooled analyses of the highest versus the lowest (reference) category of exposure and dose-response analyses were evaluated. Direction, magnitude, and heterogeneity (I^2) were considered when grading the Umbrella review: review that aims to systematically examine existing research syntheses of different outcomes for the same intervention or phenomena of interest

Table 1 Criteria used to define the level of evidence for relationships among coffee, caffeine, and he	ealth
--	-------

Level of evidence ^a	Definition
Convincing	Level 1a (high): concordance between meta-analyses of RCTs and meta-analyses of observational studies (any)
	Level 1b (low): meta-analyses of RCTs with results contrary to those from meta-analyses of observational
	studies (any)
Probable	Level 2a (high): meta-analyses of prospective studies with no heterogeneity, no potential confounding factors identified, and agreement of results over time and among meta-analyses, including studies with different
	designs
	Level 2b (medium): meta-analyses of prospective studies with no heterogeneity and no potential confounding factors identified
	Level 2c (low): meta-analyses of prospective and case-control studies with no heterogeneity and no potential confounding factors identified
Possible	Level 3a (high): meta-analyses of prospective studies lacking information on heterogeneity and potential confounding factors
	Level 3b (medium): meta-analyses of prospective and case-control studies lacking information on heterogeneity and potential confounding factors
	Level 3c (low): meta-analyses of case-control studies or meta-analyses of any other study design with significant heterogeneity ($I^2 > 50\%$) and potential confounding factors
Limited/	Level 4: Limited studies included in meta-analyses ($n \le 3$) or evident contrasting results from meta-analyses
contrasting	with the same level of evidence

Table modified from the joint World Health Organization–United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization expert consultation (131). Abbreviations: RCT, randomized controlled trial.

^aAll of the associations should be biologically plausible; potential confounding factors should be taken into account.

level of evidence. When meta-analyses reported subgroup analyses or stratified analyses, potential confounding factors were investigated. Finally, the relationship between coffee consumption or caffeine intake and outcomes of interest was categorized as (*a*) convincing, (*b*) probable, (*c*) possible, or (*d*) limited/contrasting evidence. The criteria used for evidence categorization were modified from the joint World Health Organization–United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization Expert Consultation (**Table 1**) (131). Given the nature of the exposure, we also considered that (*a*) smoking is a well-known confounding factor when considering coffee drinking, and thus evidence (especially on outcomes that may be affected by smoking) should be based on adjusted results and, when possible, stratified for smoking status; (*b*) the time frame of RCTs should be considered, as acute effects may differ from those associated with chronic consumption of coffee.

RESULTS

The search strategy yielded 244 articles, 56 of which were excluded on the basis of title evaluation and 24 of which were excluded for the following reasons: 14 were narrative or systematic reviews, 6 were meta-analyses on the effects of a number of exposures that were not limited to coffee, 2 were meta-analyses of selected cohorts, 1 was a meta-analysis of a nonrandomized and non-controlled trial, 1 was a meta-analysis of the effects of a coffee derivate (**Figure 1**). In total, 127 articles were considered in this umbrella review (1, 3–8, 10, 12–18, 20–22, 25–35, 37–40, 43, 45, 47–58, 60–81, 83, 84, 86, 88, 89, 92, 94, 96–98, 101–104, 106, 108, 109, 111–121, 123, 124, 126–151, 153–155), including 112 meta-analyses of observational studies on coffee (1, 3–8, 10, 13–16, 20, 22, 26–35, 37, 39, 40, 43, 45, 48–57, 60–79, 81, 83, 84, 86, 89, 92, 94, 96, 98, 101–104, 108, 111–121, 123,



Figure 1

Flowchart of studies selected for inclusion in the umbrella review of coffee, caffeine, and health outcomes.

124, 126–129, 131–151, 153, 154) and 20 on caffeine (13, 14, 17, 18, 21, 22, 25, 28, 38, 39, 52, 53, 58, 66, 80, 103, 106, 109, 127, 153), 4 meta-analyses of RCTs on coffee (12, 51, 97, 117), and 5 on caffeine (47, 88, 97, 130, 155). A total of 59 outcomes related to coffee exposure and 14 related to caffeine were examined in observational studies, and 6 outcomes related to coffee and 9 related to caffeine were examined in RCTs (**Figure 1**).

Meta-Analyses of Observational Studies of Coffee or Caffeine Intake and Health Outcomes

The characteristics and summaries of risk estimates for 40 nonoverlapping meta-analyses of 59 unique outcomes related to coffee consumption (4, 8, 10, 13, 22, 27, 29, 32, 34, 35, 39, 40, 43, 49, 52, 53, 60, 63, 64, 66, 68, 71–73, 79, 81, 83, 84, 102, 104, 111, 114, 117, 120, 134, 138, 140, 148, 150, 153) are shown in **Figure 2**; those of 11 nonoverlapping meta-analyses for 11 unique outcomes related to decaffeinated coffee consumption (13, 29, 34, 49, 52, 53, 64, 134, 140, 142, 153) and 9 nonoverlapping meta-analyses for 14 unique outcomes related to caffeine intake (13, 21, 22, 39, 53, 58, 66, 80, 106) are shown in **Figure 3**. A total of 38 (64.4%) of the nonoverlapping meta-analyses reported statistically significant associations between coffee or caffeine intake and health outcomes.

Outcome	Number of studies	Number of subjects	Number of cases		RR (95% CI)	l² (%)	Reference
Coffee				1			
Cancer				1			
Hepatocellular carcinoma	11 P	2,266,671	2,942	← ¦	0.50 (0.43-0.58)	13	9
Colorectal adenoma	1 P, 2 CC	NA	NA	≺≡ i	0.57 (0.44–0.72)	NA	35
Oral cancer	4 P	2,331,316	1,758	← ■──!	0.66 (0.45–0.98)	79	71
Pancreatic cancer	20 P	1,341,876	2,8/2		0.75(0.63-0.86)	38	100
Endometrial cancer	13 D	1 53/ 030	3,327		0.70 (0.04–0.91)	31	1/7
Skin cancer (nonmelanoma)	3 P, 1 CC	NA	33,352		0.82 (0.75–0.89)	48	14
Esophageal cancer	4 P	NA	NA	_	0.88 (0.65-1.19)	31	144
Proximal colon cancer	4 P	NA	NA		0.90 (0.78-1.04)	65	34
Prostate cancer	13 P	539,577	34,105		0.90 (0.85–0.95)	17	75
Colon cancer	16 P	NA	NA	-=-	0.91 (0.84–0.98)	30	34
Distal colon cancer	4 P	NA	NA 1.40C	— — ——————————————————————————————————	0.92 (0.79–1.07)	0	34
Adult glioma	4 P 10 D	1,322,407	1,486		0.98 (0.79–1.23)	6	83
Breast cancer	19 P	2,040,575 NA	30 931		0.98 (0.90-1.08)	41	52
Renal cancer	4 P	310.625	366		0.99 (0.52–1.89)	45	43
Bladder cancer	5 P	236,343	753	_	0.99 (0.70–1.39)	63	128
Cancer mortality	10 P	NA	NA	<u>+</u>	1.03 (0.97-1.09)	Yes	84
Rectal cancer	15 P	NA	NA	; .	1.07 (0.97, 1.18)	13	34
Lung cancer	8 P, 13 CC	623,645	19,892	H=-	1.09 (1.00–1.19)	84	32
Ovarian cancer	6 P	644,044	3,236		1.13 (0.89–1.43)	50	5
Gastric cancer	13 P	1,324,559	3,484		1.16 (1.03–1.32)	2/	2/
CAL	6.00	3 080	2,405		1.45 (1.22-1.00)	55	116
CAML	4 CC	4.041	387		1.81 (0.93–3.53)	54	116
Cardiovascular outcomes		.,			,		
Death after acute MI	2 P	3,271	604	- I	0.54 (0.45-0.65)	13	11
CVD mortality	17 P	NA	NA	e - <u>+</u>	0.89 (0.77–1.02)	75	84
Coronary heart disease	30 P	NA	NA	= <u>-</u>	0.93 (0.84–1.02)	52	29
Stroke	22 P	NA	NA	— — —	0.95 (0.84–1.07)	54	29
CVD Atrial fibrillation	35 P	NA 248.910	NA 10.406		0.95(0.87 - 1.03) 0.96(0.84 - 1.08)	NO 60	29
Venous thromboembolism	1 P. 2 CC	67.754	NA		0.97 (0.88–1.08)	NA	73
Hypertension Other	4 P	1,467,361	36,178	<u>+</u>	1.03 (0.98–1.08)	73	113
Chronic liver disease	5 P	386 049	1 4 1 0	∠ !	0 35 (0 22–0 56)	16	9
Gout	2 P	135,302	1,653		0.50 (0.36–0.70)	36	98
Parkinson's disease	4 P	187,740	459	i	0.70 (0.56-0.88)	NA	40
Type-2 diabetes	26 P	1,096,647	50,595	+ !	0.71 (0.67–0.76)	54	53
Alzheimer's disease	4 P	15,761	396		0.73 (0.55–0.97)	0	79
Cognitive impairment	3 P	6,649	NA 11.202		0.78 (0.48–1.26)	49	79
Neural tube defects	1 RP 6 CC	220,027 NA	2 077		0.85 (0.76-0.89)	86	72
All-cause mortality	20 P	973.904	129.538		0.86 (0.80-0.92)	69	49
Gastric ulcer	3 P, 2 CC	9,517	633		0.88 (0.49–1.60)	79	110
Depression	3 P	316,894	4,656	- ;	0.88 (0.79-0.99)	43	39
Urolithiasis	3 P	NA	NA	-=-;	0.90 (0.82-0.98)	51	132
Metabolic syndrome	3 P	106,855	31,770	+i	0.91 (0.87–0.96)	0	107
Cognitive disorders	10 P	29,155	NA		0.97 (0.84–1.11)	25	79
Peptic ulcer	5 P, 3 CC	NA	1,824		0.99(0.75 - 1.32)	60	62
Cognitive decline	9P 4P	9 254	NA		1.02 (0.88–1.14)	09	79
Gastroesophageal reflux	15 CC	89,608	12,816		1.06 (0.94–1.19)	66	57
Dementia	5 P	12,607	NA		1.08 (0.81-1.44)	28	79
Pregnancy loss	13 P	NA	NA	-=-	1.10 (1.01–1.19)	50	66
Endometriosis	2 P, 1 CC	772	387	\leftarrow	1.13 (0.46–2.76)	70	23
Hip fracture	9P	205,930	5,408		1.13 (0.86–1.48)	79	68
Duodenal ulcer	3 P, 5 CC	NA	966		1.17 (0.79–1.73)	59	110
spina binda Bheumatoid arthritis	4 CC 2 P	NA 114 460	638		1.30 (0.0/-2.52) 1.31 (0.96-1.77)	8/ 0	64
Vascular dementia	1 P	3,734	80		1.96 (0.76–5.04)	NA	79

Figure 2

Findings from 40 nonoverlapping meta-analyses of observational studies on coffee, with effect size for highest versus lowest (reference) category of exposure. Abbreviations: CAL, childhood acute leukemia; CALL, childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia; CAML, childhood acute myeloid leukemia; CC, case control; CI, confidence interval; CVD, cardiovascular disease; MI, myocardial infarction; NA, not applicable; P, prospective; RP, retrospective; RR, relative risk.

For coffee consumption, meta-analyses of endometrial (153), liver (8), prostate (75), pancreatic (104), and colon (34) cancers and gallstone disease (148) reported statistically significant reduced risks for the highest versus the lowest category of coffee consumption; the meta-analyses of atrial fibrillation (21), Parkinson's disease (80), or type-2 diabetes (53) reported reduced risks for the highest versus the lowest category of caffeine intake; the meta-analyses of childhood leukemia (20) and pregnancy loss (66) reported increased risks for the highest versus the lowest category of coffee consumption; finally, meta-analyses of low birth weight (20, 106) and pregnancy loss (66) reported increased risks for the highest versus the lowest category of caffeine intake (20, 106) and pregnancy loss (66) reported increased risks for the highest versus the lowest category of caffeine intake during pregnancy; no analyses had evidence of significant heterogeneity (**Figure 2**). In addition, meta-analyses of colorectal adenoma (35), oral cancer (71), skin cancers (melanoma and nonmelanoma) (13, 140), all-cause mortality (49), death after myocardial infarction (10), Parkinson's disease (40), Alzheimer's disease (79), type-2 diabetes (53), metabolic syndrome, urolithiasis (138), and depression (39) reported significantly reduced risks for the highest versus the lowest category

Outcome	Number of studies	Number of subjects	Number of cases		RR (95% CI)	l² (%)	Reference
Decaffeinated coffee				I			
Endometrial cancer	4 P	NA	NA	 ;	0.77 (0.63-0.94)	0	147
Type-2 diabetes	10 P	491,485	29,165	- - i	0.79 (0.69-0.91)	65	53
All-cause mortality	5 P	NA	NA	- - i	0.86 (0.80-0.92)	NA	49
Colorectal cancer	3 P	NA	NA	_ !	0.89 (0.80-0.99)	2	34
Skin cancer (melanoma)	5 P, 1 CC	718,231	3,269	- -	0.92 (0.82-1.05)	NA	134
Breast cancer	4 P, 8 CC	NA	31,790		0.97 (0.89-1.06)	29	52
Coronary heart disease	5 P	NA	NA	_ 	1.00 (0.88-1.14)	NA	29
Skin cancer (nonmelanoma)	3 P	NA	32,975		1.01 (0.85-1.21)	0	14
Rheumatoid arthritis	2 P	NA	NA	_	1.05 (0.78-1.42)	0	64
Urinary tract cancer	4 P+CC	NA	NA		1.18 (0.99-1.40)	NA	136
Bladder cancer	5 P+CC	NA	NA		1.29 (0.88–1.89)	62	128
Caffeine				i			
Parkinson's disease	9 P	NA	NA	I	0.67 (0.57-0.80)	46	80
Type-2 diabetes	6 P	321,960	9,302	!	0.70 (0.65–0.75)	49	53
Dementia	3 P, 2 CC	NA	NA	<	0.72 (0.34-1.51)	76	58
Alzheimer's disease	2 P, 3 CC	NA	NA	< ∎	0.78 (0.50-1.22)	71	58
Cognitive impairment	5 CS	NA	NA		0.79 (0.61-1.04)	21	58
Cognitive disorders	19 P+CC	31,479	NA		0.82 (0.67-1.01)	63	58
Depression	3 P	58,756	2,656	- !	0.84 (0.75-0.93)	0	39
Skin cancer (nonmelanoma)	2 P, 2 CC	NA	25,993	- -	0.86 (0.80-0.91)	48	14
Atrial fibrillation	6 P	228,465	4,261		0.88 (0.78-0.99)	41	22
Cognitive decline	4 P	NA	NA	_	0.99 (0.70-1.39)	62	58
Breast cancer	9 P+CC	NA	15,775	+	0.99 (0.94-1.04)	0	52
Pregnancy loss	13 P	NA	NA	 -	1.21 (1.08–1.37)	21	66
Endometriosis	1 P, 4 CC	3,441	1,020	<u></u>	1.26 (0.95–1.66)	68	23
Low birth weight	8 P	74,885	3,887	_	1.43 (1.14–1.79)	49	102

Figure 3

Findings from 20 nonoverlapping meta-analyses of observational studies on decaffeinated coffee and caffeine, with effect size for highest versus lowest (reference) category of exposure. Abbreviations: CC, case control; CI, confidence interval; NA, not applicable; P, prospective; RR, relative risk.

of coffee consumption, and the meta-analyses of all-cause mortality (49) and type-2 diabetes (53) reported reduced risks for the highest versus the lowest category of decaffeinated coffee consumption, but there were a limited number of studies (\leq 3) or significant heterogeneity ($I^2 >$ 50%). However, none of these studies clearly reported an exposure dose; thus the results can be interpreted only generically for high coffee intake compared with low intake or no consumption.

Supplemental Material

The variation in effects by the dose of coffee or caffeine was evaluated in 25 nonoverlapping meta-analyses testing for linear association with 39 outcomes (8, 18, 21, 25, 28, 32, 34, 38, 39, 49, 55, 68, 69, 76–79, 83, 84, 104, 127, 134, 151, 153) (see Supplemental Figure 1) and 16 using a nonlinear dose-response meta-analysis of 24 outcomes (26, 29, 34, 39, 52, 53, 61, 67, 92, 103, 111, 120, 126, 129, 148, 154) (Figure 4). Meta-analyses of liver (8), breast (69), endometrial (153), skin (melanoma) (78), colon (34), and prostate (151) cancers; all-cause mortality (49) and mortality from cardiovascular disease (CVD) (84); Parkinson's disease (25); depression; type-2 diabetes (28); cirrhosis (55); and chronic liver disease (8) reported significantly decreased risks for the incremental intake of coffee from 1 to 4 cups/day (depending on the study reference); and significantly decreased risks were also reported for endometrial cancer (153), Parkinson's disease (25), depression (39), atrial fibrillation (21), and type-2 diabetes (28) for incremental intake of 100 to 300 ml/day of caffeine (depending on the study reference) (Supplemental Figure 1). In contrast, increasing intakes of coffee or caffeine were associated with pregnancy loss, stillbirth, low birth weight and small-for-gestational-age infants (38), lung cancer (32), and fracture risk (77) (Supplemental Figure 1). Meta-analyses calculating the nonlinear dose-response relationship between coffee or caffeine and several outcomes showed significantly decreased risks of stroke (61), heart failure (92), cardiovascular and all-cause mortality (26) for up to 4 cups/day; there was also a linear dose-response relationship showing decreased risks of colorectal and colon cancers (34), breast cancer (52), skin cancer (melanoma) (126), Parkinson's disease (both coffee and caffeine exposure) (103), type-2 diabetes (53), metabolic syndrome (111), and gallstone disease (148) (Figure 4). An increased intake of coffee was associated with increased risks of lung cancer (129) and childhood acute lymphoblastic and myeloid leukemia (120); an inverted U-shaped increased risk for moderate coffee consumption was found for bladder cancer (154) and childhood acute leukemia (120). Similarly, nonoverlapping meta-analyses of caffeine intake showed a linear doseresponse for decreased risks of type-2 diabetes (53), Parkinson's disease (103), and depression (39) (Figure 4).

Subgroup analyses were evaluated to test potential sources of heterogeneity for all nonoverlapping meta-analyses. These analyses mostly evaluated sex, geographical area, and adjustments for smoking status; a limited number also reported stratifying analyses for specific subgroups, including smokers and nonsmokers (Supplemental Figure 2). Some differences were found by sex: in men coffee was associated with an increased risk of bladder and lung cancer and with a decreased risk of fractures, but these associations were not found for women. In contrast, meta-analyses showed significantly reduced risks for women for gallstone disease, skin cancer (melanoma), and lung cancer. The association between coffee and health outcomes varied geographically and did not show a discernible pattern. Subgroup analyses adjusted by smoking status were conducted in only a limited number of meta-analyses and showed reduced risks of prostate cancer and all-cause mortality and an increased risk of an infant having low birth weight, but results were not significant in studies that did not adjust for smoking status; in contrast, significantly increased risks were found in the meta-analyses of oral (71), laryngeal, and lung (32) cancers only when considering studies that did not adjust for smoking status. Even fewer meta-analyses provided subgroup analyses that stratified smokers and nonsmokers; these showed increased risks of adult glioma (83) and childhood acute leukemia (120) among nonsmokers, but no association was found with lung cancer risk (32).



Findings from dose-response meta-analyses of observational studies on coffee or caffeine using relative risk as the metric.

The general characteristics of meta-analyses of outcomes for which more than one metaanalysis was published are presented in **Supplemental Table 1**. Agreement over time in terms of the direction, magnitude, and statistical significance of the associations was found in metaanalyses of atrial fibrillation (14, 60), all-cause mortality (49, 84), childhood acute leukemia (20, 89, 120), endometrial cancer (7, 48, 141, 153), liver cancer (5, 6, 8, 108, 141), lung cancer (32, 118, 137), prostate cancer (15, 43, 75, 81, 101, 151), skin cancer (melanoma) (78, 126, 140), type-2 diabetes (28, 45, 53), metabolic syndrome (86, 111), Parkinson's disease (caffeine exposure) (25, 80), depression (39, 127), and low birth weight (caffeine exposure) (17, 106). In contrast, metaanalyses conducted for colorectal, colon and rectal cancers (33–35, 50, 65, 141); breast cancer (52, 69, 119, 141); and pancreatic cancer (31, 96, 104, 123, 141) showed differences in the statistical significance of the effects, but not in the direction. Moreover, increments in statistical significance or changes in the direction of the association were found in meta-analyses of oral or laryngeal cancer (16, 98, 124), atrial fibrillation (caffeine exposure) (14, 21), gastric cancer (3, 27, 67, 76, 112, 135, 136, 143), bladder cancer (43, 134, 141, 154), and Alzheimer's disease and cognitive disorders (caffeine exposure) (58, 79, 109) (**Supplemental Table 1**).

Supplemental Material

Meta-Analyses of Randomized Controlled Trials of Coffee Consumption or Caffeine Intake and Health Outcomes

Seven nonoverlapping meta-analyses [including 2 RCTs of coffee (12, 117) and 5 of caffeine (47, 88, 97, 130, 155)] explored cardiovascular (blood pressure and ventricular arrhythmia), metabolic (blood lipids), respiratory (asthma), and pregnancy-related outcomes (**Table 2**). The number of studies included ranged from 1 to 12, and the number of individuals ranged from 78 to 1,488. All RCTs included in the meta-analyses investigated acute outcomes, as the length of the trials ranged from 180 minutes to 12 weeks. No meta-analysis was conducted to test the effects of the long-term consumption of coffee or caffeine.

Among the nonoverlapping meta-analyses of RCTs of coffee, significant increases were found in total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, and triglycerides despite the significant heterogeneity among included studies (12); however, no effects were found on blood pressure (117) and ventricular fibrillation (only one RCT was included) (155). Among the 6 nonoverlapping meta-analyses of RCTs of caffeine, 2 studies (88, 97) demonstrated significant incremental increases in blood pressure in both healthy and hypertensive individuals after the administration of caffeine from coffee, and one meta-analysis (that included only one RCT) (47) reported a significant increase in serum insulin levels in newborns of mothers who were given caffeinated coffee compared with those who were given decaffeinated, but there were no significant changes in birth weight and in the risks of preterm birth and infants being small for gestational age. In contrast, another meta-analysis showed a significant increase in forced expiratory volume in 1 second in newborns following caffeine administration (130).

Three meta-analyses of RCTs of coffee explored the same outcomes over time (**Supplemental Table 2**). The findings of the meta-analyses of the effects on systolic blood pressure changed over time, varying from statistically significant to nonsignificant. Similarly, meta-analyses of effects on diastolic blood pressure showed differences in statistical significance, despite two of the three most recent meta-analyses reporting the same results.

Summary of Evidence from Observational Studies and Randomized Controlled Trials

Only blood pressure and pregnancy-related outcomes have been examined in meta-analyses of observational studies and RCTs. Meta-analyses of observational studies of blood pressure showed no substantial effects of coffee drinking on the risk of hypertension, whereas RCTs of caffeine showed significant increases in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure, suggesting that caffeine itself, rather than coffee, exerts effects that raise blood pressure, but coffee probably does not have a significant effect. The findings of meta-analyses of pregnancy-related outcomes diverged in the relationship between caffeine intake during pregnancy and birth weight, as well as for the risks of preterm birth and an infant being small for gestational age; however, the evidence was considered to be probable for an increased risk of low birth weight, both of which persisted in the studies conducted in the United States. Among other meta-analyses of RCTs, the evidence was considered to be probable for the acute effects of coffee on serum lipids, despite a lack of evidence for long-term consumption.

A summary of evidence from the meta-analyses of observational studies of coffee or caffeine consumption and various outcomes is shown in **Table 3**. The details of the process for evaluating the evidence are presented in **Supplemental Figure 3**. The evidence for coffee was assessed as probable for the association of decreased risks for breast, colorectal and colon, endometrial, and prostate cancers; for CVD-related outcomes considered as a whole (including coronary heart

140

Grosso et al.

50	
vs.or	only.
eviev	use
nualr	sonal
v.anı	pers
WM	. Foi
rom	1/17
ded 1	08/2
/nloa	ty on
Dow	versi
156.	Uni
131-	mbia
7.37:	Colu
201	l by (
Nutr.	videc
Sev.	s pro
nu. F	cces
An	A

Characteristics of nonoverlapping meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials reporting unique outcomes for coffee consumption or caffeine Table 2 intabe

make										
Outcome	Intervention	Type of placebo	Number of studies	Total number of participants	Duration (range)	Exposure (range)	Analysis	Effect size (95% CI)	I ² (%)	Reference
Coffee										
Total cholesterol	Regular, decaffeinated, filtered, instant	None or tea	12	1,017	2–11 weeks	2.4–8 cups/day	QWM	8.05 (4.48–11.62)	67	125
LDL cholesterol	Regular, decaffeinated, filtered, instant	None or tea	œ	686	2–11 weeks	2.4–8 cups/day	QWM	5.44 (1.38–9.51)	58	125
HDL cholesterol	Regular, decaffeinated, filtered, instant	None or tea	6	830	2–11 weeks	2.4–8 cups/day	QWM	-0.12 (-0.62-0.38)	21	125
Triglycerides	Regular, decaffeinated, filtered, instant	None or tea	7	697	2–11 weeks	2.4–8 cups/day	QWM	12.55 (3.47–21.64)	66	125
SBP	Filtered, boiled, instant, decaffeinated	NA	10	1,488	6–14 weeks	2–6 cups/day	QWM	-0.55 (-2.46-1.36)	72	35
DBP	Filtered, boiled, instant, decaffeinated	NA	10	1,488	6–14 weeks	2–6 cups/day	QWM	-0.45 (-1.52-0.61)	41	35
Caffeine										
SBP	Filtered, boiled, instant	No coffee, de- caffeinated coffee	5	1,010	1–12 weeks	295–750 mg	WMD (gH mm)	4.16 (2.13–6.20)	NA	124
DBP	Filtered, boiled, instant	No coffee, de- caffeinated coffee	5	1,010	1–12 weeks	295–750 mg	WMD (gH mm)	0.41 (0.98–3.84)	NA	124
										(Continued)

Table 2 (Con	ttinued)									
Outcome	Intervention	Type of placebo	Number of studies	Total number of participants	Duration (range)	Exposure (range)	Analysis	Effect size (95 % CI)	I ² (%)	Reference
Asthma	Various sources	Decaffeinated coffee	9	78	1–2 weeks	5-450 mg	SMD (change in FEV ₁)	0.72 (0.25–1.20)	0	126
SBP (in hypertensive individuals)	NA	NA	S	207	180 min	200–300 mg	WMD (mm Hg)	8.14 (5.68–10.61)	0	127
DBP (in hypertensive individuals)	NA	NA	6	207	180 min	200–300 mg	WMD (mm Hg)	5.75 (4.09–7.41)	0	127
Birth weight	Instant caffeinated coffee	Instant decaf- feinated coffee	1	1,207	Up to 4 weeks after delivery	62 mg/day (mean)	WMD (g)	20.00 (-48.68-88.68)	NA	128
Preterm birth	Instant caffeinated coffee	Instant decaf- feinated coffee	1	1,207	Up to 4 weeks after delivery	62 mg/day (mean)	RR	0.81 (0.48–1.37)	NA	128
Small for gestational age	Instant caffeinated coffee	Instant decaf- feinated coffee	1	1,207	Up to 4 weeks after delivery	62 mg/day (mean)	RR	0.97 (0.57–1.64)	NA	128
Serum insulin level	Instant caffeinated coffee	Instant decaf- feinated coffee	1	1,207	Up to 4 weeks after delivery	62 mg/day (mean)	WMD (pmol/L)	38.8 (13.57–64.03)	NA	128
Ventricular arrhythmia	Instant coffee	Decaffeinated coffee	1	52	5 days	175– 450 mg/day	RR	0.98 (0.93–1.03)	NA	129

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; FEV(1, forced expiratory volume in 1 second; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; NA, not applicable; RR, relative risk; SBP, systolic blood pressure; SMD, standardized mean difference; WMD, weighted mean difference.

	Ou	tcome	
Level of evidence	Coffee	Decaffeinated coffee	Caffeine
Probable	Decreased risks of breast cancer, colorectal cancer, colon cancer, endometrial cancer, prostate cancer, cardiovascular disease, cardiovascular disease	_	Decreased risks of Parkinson's disease and type-2 diabetes
	mortality, Parkinson's disease, and type-2 diabetes		Increased risk of pregnancy loss
Possible	Decreased risks of liver cancer, oral and laryngeal cancer, melanoma, coronary heart disease, all-cause mortality, chronic liver disease and cirrhosis, Alzheimer's disease, and gallstone disease	Decreased risks of all-cause mortality and endometrial cancer	Decreased risk of cognitive disorders
	Increased risks of childhood acute leukemia (myeloid and lymphoblastic), gastric cancer, and pregnancy loss	-	Increased risk of infant having low birth weight
No associations	Adult glioma, bladder cancer, cancer mortality, esophageal cancer, ovarian cancer, pancreatic cancer, renal cancer, atrial fibrillation, hypertension, stroke, hip fractures, peptic ulcer, rectal cancer, and cognitive disorders (including cognitive decline, impairment, and dementia)	Breast cancer, coronary heart disease, and melanoma	Breast cancer and cognitive disorders
Limited	Decreased risks of colorectal adenoma, nonmelanoma skin cancer, death after myocardial infarction, venous thromboembolism, depression, gout, metabolic syndrome, and urolithiasis	Decreased risk of colorectal cancer	Decreased risk of depression
	No association with gastroesophageal reflux, duodenal and gastric ulcers, endometriosis, neural tube defects and spina bifida in offspring, and rheumatoid arthritis	No association with bladder cancer, urinary tract cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, and nonmelanoma skin cancer	No association with Alzheimer's disease, cognitive impairment, endometriosis, and nonmelanoma skin cancer
Contrasting	Risk of lung cancer and fractures in men	Risk of atrial fibrillation	-

Table 3 Evidence from observational studies of association between coffee or caffeine intake and health outcomes

disease, stroke, heart failure, and mortality), Parkinson's disease, and type-2 diabetes; and with no probable effect on the risk of pancreatic and rectal cancers. Notably, the evidence for decreased risks of liver cancer, chronic liver disease, stroke, and Alzheimer's disease was graded as highly possible. The evidence for associations between coffee consumption and increased risks of childhood acute leukemia and gastric cancer was considered to be possible. Contrasting results on lung cancer were due to the different associations found for men and women, the reliance on studies that did not adjust for smoking status, and for findings considered to be not significant when studies were conducted only among nonsmokers. Caffeine was associated with probable decreased risks for Parkinson's disease and type-2 diabetes. Several other associations were retrieved but often affected by heterogeneity or potential confounding factors.

DISCUSSION

In this study, the findings of 127 meta-analyses of coffee and caffeine exposure were reviewed; the meta-analyses examined 62 outcomes, including cancer, and cardiovascular and other outcomes.

Most of the evidence came from meta-analyses of observational studies; only a few meta-analyses included RCTs. Comparisons of pooled analyses of observational studies and RCTs were possible only for blood pressure and hypertension, and low birth weight; the findings for these analyses were inconclusive. Based on these results, there is probable evidence of the beneficial effects of coffee consumption for a number of chronic diseases, including some cancers (endometrial, prostate, colorectal, and liver), CVD and metabolic-related outcomes (such as type-2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome), and neurological conditions (such as Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and depression). The risk estimate relations in most of the meta-analyses were calculated as high versus low consumption; thus, they did not allow a clear reference exposure to be defined. Among the studies providing dose-response analyses, some relations were linear but others showed the lowest risk at about 4–5 cups/day. Adverse effects were limited mainly to pregnancy-related outcomes following caffeine intake rather than other components in coffee, as controls were administered decaffeinated coffee.

Antioxidant Properties of Coffee

Most of the potential beneficial effects of coffee rely on the assumption that coffee may have antioxidant and anti-inflammatory actions that, over the long term, may induce protection against subclinical inflammation and chronic diseases triggered by inflammation (85). Experimental models and studies on humans have demonstrated, albeit with some contrasting results, the attenuation of inflammatory markers—such as interleukin 6, tumor necrosis factor- α , interferon- γ , and transforming growth factor- β —after administration of coffee (85). The main components of coffee described as exerting such effects are phenolic compounds, caffeine, diterpenes, trigonelline, and melanoidins.

The phenolic component of coffee is mostly characterized by chlorogenic acids, a family of esters of hydroxycinnamic acids (mostly caffeic acid and ferulic acid) with D-(⁻)-quinic acid. These compounds represent the highest phenolic component of green coffee seeds, together with tannins, lignans, and anthocyanins, and they significantly determine coffee's quality, aroma, and flavor. Chlorogenic acids have been demonstrated to induce antioxidant effects, decreasing the production of inflammatory mediators through several mechanisms, including (*a*) inhibiting protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B, (*b*) inhibiting expression of proinflammatory cytokine genes, and (*c*) modulating inflammatory nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) activation via the redox-related tyrosine protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase and NF-kB–inducing kinase/IKB kinase pathways via the reduction of oxidative stress (36).

Caffeine has been by far the most studied coffee component due to its effects on adenosine receptors in the brain, as well as in the cardiovascular, respiratory, renal, and gastrointestinal systems, and in adipose tissue. However, caffeine has been reported to have the ability to inhibit induced NF- κ B activation through mechanisms similar to those described for chlorogenic acids (156).

Cafestol and kahweol are two diterpenes that naturally occur in coffee beans. It is unclear whether coffee diterpenes may exert direct antioxidant properties, but it has been shown that (*a*) they may increase the expression of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1, an enzyme implicated in the synthesis of endogenous antioxidants through the nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (NFE2L2) pathway; and (*b*) they increase the production of glutathione and γ -glutamylcysteine synthase, the limiting enzyme for glutathione synthesis, which is an important endogenous antioxidant and cofactor of detoxifying metabolism (42).

Trigonelline is a plant alkaloid derivate of vitamin B6 contained in coffee beans, and it is one of the main components that contributes to bitterness in coffee. Animal studies have shown that

trigonelline decreases malonaldehyde and nitric oxide concentrations and increases the activity of superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione, and inducible nitric oxide synthase in the pancreas, suggesting that trigonelline may also exert antioxidant effects by upregulating antioxidant enzyme activities and decreasing lipid peroxidation (152).

Melanoidins are high molecular weight, nitrogenous, brown-colored polymers that may exert antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity based on their radical scavenging or their metal chelating capacities, or both, despite depending on the degree of coffee roasting (it seems that coffee antioxidant activity may decrease as coffee is roasted longer) (91).

Coffee and Microbiota

The anti-inflammatory effects of coffee may be also mediated by alteration of the gut microbiota. There is evidence from cellular, animal, and human studies that administration of coffee induces changes in the structure and function of the gut microbiota, modifying the ratio among major phyla (*Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes*, and *Firmicutes*) in favor of an anti-obese profile (i.e., decreased *Firmicutes*-to-*Bacteroidetes* ratio) (100). Increases in bifdobacteria have been associated with anti-inflammatory effects, which, in turn, may mitigate local inflammation, decrease procarcinogenic processes, and lower misfolding rates of α -synuclein in the enteric nervous system, thus reducing the risk of Parkinson's disease by minimizing propagation of the protein to the central nervous system (93). In addition to the direct effects of gut microbiota on metabolism (lower energy expenditure, higher energy harvest, fat deposition, and weight gain), microbiota alterations may have an important role in the biotransformation of polyphenols, which, in turn, may exert collateral benefits associated with coffee consumption, such as a rise in polyphenol metabolites, which have antioxidant properties (90).

Coffee and Cancer

A number of plausible mechanisms may explain the observed associations between coffee and cancer risk. Phytochemical compounds contained in coffee (diterpenes, melanoidins, and polyphenols) may exert beneficial effects, including inhibiting oxidative stress and oxidative damage irrespective of the site involved. These actions may have a role, particularly in the early process of the transformation of a normal cell into a malignant tumor. Coffee has been demonstrated to play a part in defense mechanisms, including regulating DNA repair, phase II enzymatic activity, and apoptosis, as well as having antiproliferative, antiangiogenic, and antimetastatic effects; the expression of antioxidant defense and detoxification genes depends on transcription factors that can be regulated by coffee, such as the complex of Nrf2 and Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1, activator protein 1, or the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (2).

In addition to having general effects at the cellular level, coffee consumption may exert specific benefits at individual cancer sites. A high intake of caffeine has been positively associated with increases in sex hormone binding globulin and inversely associated with bioavailable testosterone, which may influence the risks of endometrial and breast cancers (46). For colorectal cancer, the effects of coffee consumption are related to the excretion of bile acids and neutral sterols into the colon, alteration of microbiota composition, and increases in bowel mobility in the rectal region (125). Coffee consumption also increases the detoxification capacity and antimutagenic properties of the colorectal mucosa by increasing glutathione concentration (44). A key part is played by coffee diterpenes, which have been found to reduce mutagenesis by strongly metabolizing carcinogenic compounds, inducing glutathione *S*-transferases, and inhibiting *N*-acetyltransferases, all mechanisms that are beneficial in preventing cancer (44).

Coffee and Liver Health

Coffee is also associated in a dose-dependent manner with improved serum concentrations of γ -glutamyltransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, and alanine aminotransferase; with the severity of steatohepatitis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and with decreased liver fibrosis, both of which are chronic alterations preceding hepatocellular carcinoma. The main mechanisms proposed for the hepatoprotection of coffee involve caffeine, phenolic compounds, and melanoidins. Caffeine may counteract the hepatic fibrinogenesis pathway by downregulating the production of connective tissue growth factor induced by transforming growth factor- β 1, by upregulating the PPAR γ receptor, and by inhibiting the synthesis of focal adhesion kinase and actin (107). Phenolic compounds, melanoidins, and caffeine are responsible for antioxidant effects at the hepatic level that prevent free radical tissue damage by reducing reactive oxygen species, which, in turn, play a central part in the inflammation processes characterizing nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, steatohepatitis and, ultimately, liver fibrosis (19).

Coffee and Metabolic Health

Coffee consumption and caffeine intake have been also associated with decreased risks for a number of metabolic outcomes. Consistent evidence has demonstrated the beneficial effects of coffee compounds on insulin and glucose metabolism. Consumption of chlorogenic acids has been demonstrated to reduce fasting plasma glucose concentrations, increase sensitivity to insulin, and slow the appearance of glucose in circulation after glucose load (87). The mechanisms underlying these actions include (*a*) competitive inhibition of the glucose-6-phosphate translocase, an enzyme involved in regulating the homeostasis of blood glucose levels; (*b*) activation of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase, a sensor and regulator of cellular energy balance, which may induce inhibition of fatty acid synthesis and hepatic glucose production; (*c*) reduction of sodium-dependent glucose transport in brush-border membrane vesicles of the small intestine; and (*d*) inhibition of α -amylase and α -glucosidase activity, two key enzymes responsible for digesting dietary carbohydrates, resulting in a reduction of intestinal absorption of glucose (11).

Coffee and Cardiovascular Health

The association between coffee consumption and cardiovascular outcomes may be the result of the aforementioned beneficial effects of coffee on cardiometabolic health. Most of the effects are thought to be related to the antioxidant effects of coffee, specifically (*a*) the reduction of LDL oxidation susceptibility, which is a key step in the development and progression of atherosclerosis; and (*b*) the ability of methyltetrahydrofolate, the main circulating metabolite of folate, and caffeine to increase nitric oxide production and scavenge superoxide radicals (105).

Coffee and Lithiasis

Coffee has also been demonstrated to decrease the risk of gallstone disease and, possibly, urolithiasis. In experimental studies, coffee has been shown to stimulate cholecystokinin release, enhance gallbladder contractility, improve gallbladder mucosal function, and decrease cholesterol crystallization in bile; these effects have been hypothesized to depend on its caffeine content (110). Insulin resistance has also been associated with gallstone risk. Moreover, caffeine also increases urinary calcium and oxalate excretion (23). Finally, the anti-inflammatory effects of coffee are postulated to have a protective role in the pathogenesis of lithiasis.

Coffee and Mental Health

The potentially beneficial effects of coffee on Parkinson's disease and, more generally, mental health may reflect the neuroprotective action of (*a*) caffeine acting as an adenosine receptor antagonist, which results in the release of mainly excitatory transmitters, including dopamine; (*b*) trigonelline, *N*-methylpyridinium, chlorogenic acid, catechol, pyrogallol, and 5-hydroxytryptamides, all of which have been demonstrated to increase calcium signaling and dopamine release; and (*c*) the local antioxidant effects of chlorogenic acids, which have been associated with neurogenesis (the process by which neurons are generated) (95).

Potential Detrimental Effects of Coffee and Caffeine Consumption

The only potentially adverse outcomes related to coffee consumption have been found to be increased risks of lung and gastric cancers, and increases in serum lipids. The increased risks of lung and gastric cancers are highly sensitive to the potentially modifying effect of smoking habits, which is a more important risk factor than coffee drinking. In fact, for both lung and gastric cancers a subgroup analysis revealed that the association was significant only in studies that did not adjust for smoking status, and no increased risk of lung cancer was observed in a subgroup analysis of studies conducted on nonsmokers. In studies of coffee's potential to increase serum lipids, it has been documented that unfiltered coffee may contain a significant quantity of diterpenes that may affect the LDL receptor, which is responsible for the endocytic processes of Apo B- and Apo E-containing lipoproteins, and, consequently, lead to extracellular accumulation of cholesterol (36). However, there is no evidence that long-term coffee consumption is associated with an increased risk of dyslipidemia or other outcomes related to a rise in serum lipids.

Caffeine has been associated with acute rises in blood pressure. There is no definitive consensus on a mechanism that would explain the weaker effects demonstrated in long-term, habitual coffee drinkers. It is biologically plausible that chronic administration of coffee could induce tolerance and, thus, a lack of significant effects at the level of blood vessels. Moreover, the antioxidant compounds contained in coffee may somehow counteract the effects of caffeine in raising blood pressure.

The adverse associations with caffeine were mostly pregnancy-related outcomes (including low birth weight, pregnancy loss, and childhood leukemia). Caffeine passes through placental barriers, and cytochrome P450 1A2 (CYP1A2) activity is reduced during pregnancy, thus potentially exposing the fetus to caffeine for a long period of time, which may affect fetal growth (9). Moreover, caffeine may act as an inhibitor for DNA topoisomerase II and DNA repair systems, which, in turn, may induce chromosomal aberrations and translocations, such as abnormalities related to leukemia (122). Some evidence suggests that caffeine may influence DNA methylation by altering responsible genes, resulting in a notable increase in total methylation as well as increased methylation frequency (122). However, the studies included in the meta-analyses did not stratify by smoking status, which is itself a known risk factor for the aforementioned outcomes. Moreover, early caffeine therapy in newborns (administered intravenously) has been demonstrated to exert certain benefits toward malformation of the respiratory tract, significantly decreasing the risk of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (59).

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

This umbrella review should be considered in light of two major limitations. The first is the lack of consistent data among studies of a clear and unequivocal exposure dose to which the associations refer. Indeed, most of the evidence gathered relies on effect sizes referring to "the highest compared with the lowest" category of exposure. Although we may arbitrarily hypothesize what high, moderate, and low coffee consumption refer to (perhaps, respectively, >6 cups/day, 3-5 cups/day, and <3 cups/day), this is not sufficient to draft adequate dietary guidelines with scientific accuracy. However, several meta-analyses presented dose-response analyses for numerous outcomes, strengthening the evidence of a potential effect and resolving, at least in part, the aforementioned limitation. The second major issue is the ubiquitous lack of information on potentially important concerns relative to genetic polymorphisms. Although outside of the scope of this umbrella review, it is worth mentioning that polymorphisms of the *CYP1A2* gene have been demonstrated to affect caffeine metabolism, which, in turn, may result in potentially different risk estimates, depending on its activity (especially for cardiovascular outcomes) (24, 99). Thus, the possibility that the association of coffee consumption with health benefits may not be reproducible in individuals with specific genetic profiles should be taken into account and investigated in future studies. Other limitations concern the lack of consistent information on methods of coffee preparation [filtered or boiled, or drying method (for soluble coffee)], roasting characteristics, as well as coffee add-ins (sugar, dairy products).

IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH EXPERTS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

Essentially all of the data on chronic conditions, for which long-term consumption of coffee may be required for any effect to occur, are based on observational studies. RCTs considered what are presumed to be intermediate biomarkers (e.g., lipids) or physiologic effects (e.g., blood pressure), but direct estimates of the long-term effects of coffee have not been explored. Although observational data cannot definitively prove causality, as a whole they include a number of strengths: Overall coffee consumption is reasonably well measured; the findings for many of the conditions were based on large numbers of people and diverse populations; they covered long-term intake over multiple time periods and, in some cases, considered regular and decaffeinated coffee; the low heterogeneity observed in some studies also reinforces the strength of the findings. However, drinking coffee is generally not considered a health-conscious behavior and, in fact, in many populations those who consume large amounts of coffee tend to smoke more and are more likely to consume alcohol excessively. Thus, uncontrolled or residual confounding cannot be excluded definitively. In fact, as studies have become better able to control for confounding factors, particularly for tobacco use, inverse associations have emerged or been strengthened. Despite examining the characteristics of individuals in numerous studies who consumed large quantities of coffee, we could not identify an obvious candidate confounding factor that could plausibly explain the potential beneficial effect of coffee consumption on human health, but in some cases (i.e., lung and gastric cancers) the role of tobacco use as an effect modifier appeared quite evident.

To date, the broad research from observational studies on the beneficial effects of coffee on cancer, CVD, and metabolic and neurological disorders is promising. The main limitation in drawing strong conclusions from causal associations is the lack of data from long-term RCTs. Nonetheless, given that coffee consumption is a widespread behavior in numerous populations, these results are largely reassuring when compared with the adverse effects (except in the context of pregnancy) and, if anything, are suggestive of potential benefits. Consumption of 4–5 cups/day seems to have benefits for many of the outcomes examined, although higher intakes could require caution, especially during pregnancy and for people with CVD-related conditions, but these may be due to residual confounding from smoking. Given the lack of RCTs, the extensive studies using observational data, the robustness of the findings—which have generally been strengthened by better study design and controls for confounding—it is unlikely that the level of evidence will

change appreciably in the foreseeable future. In any case, our findings indicate that coffee can be part of a healthful diet.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. There is probable evidence that coffee consumption has beneficial effects for a number of chronic diseases, including cancers, and cardiovascular, metabolic, and neurological conditions.
- 2. The dose-response effect in most meta-analyses was linear, with the lowest risk reached with the consumption of about 4–5 cups/day.
- 3. Adverse effects were mainly limited to pregnancy-related outcomes associated with caffeine intake rather than other components in coffee.
- 4. Evidence retrieved for other potential adverse effects, such as lung and gastric cancers, seems to have been affected by the confounding effect of smoking.

FUTURE ISSUES

- 1. Future studies should include stratification by smoking status to most definitively exclude confounding and to better characterize the dose-response relationship.
- 2. Taking into account genetic variation in caffeine metabolism could strengthen associations and conclusions.
- 3. Interventions with end points based on physiologic parameters, hormones, and metabolomics may offer mechanistic insights and, thereby, strengthen conclusions.
- 4. Separating the consumption of regular coffee from decaffeinated coffee is critical to determine whether benefits are due to caffeine or other components, such as chlorogenic acid.

CONTRIBUTIONS

G.G. conceived the idea for the study. G.G. and J.G. performed the systematic review and extracted the data; G.G., F.G., and E.L.G. wrote the manuscript. All authors reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed equally to the article.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bai K, Cai Q, Jiang Y, Lv L. 2016. Coffee consumption and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: a metaanalysis of eleven epidemiological studies. *Onco Targets Ther*. 9:4369–75
- Bohn SK, Blomhoff R, Paur I. 2014. Coffee and cancer risk, epidemiological evidence, and molecular mechanisms. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 58:915–30

- Botelho F, Lunet N, Barros H. 2006. Coffee and gastric cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Cad. Saude Publica 22:889–900
- Braem MG, Onland-Moret NC, Schouten LJ, Tjonneland A, Hansen L, et al. 2012. Coffee and tea consumption and the risk of ovarian cancer: a prospective cohort study and updated meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 95:1172–81
- Bravi F, Bosetti C, Tavani A, Bagnardi V, Gallus S, et al. 2007. Coffee drinking and hepatocellular carcinoma risk: a meta-analysis. *Hepatology* 46:430–35
- Bravi F, Bosetti C, Tavani A, Gallus S, La Vecchia C. 2013. Coffee reduces risk for hepatocellular carcinoma: an updated meta-analysis. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 11:1413–21
- Bravi F, Scotti L, Bosetti C, Gallus S, Negri E, et al. 2009. Coffee drinking and endometrial cancer risk: a metaanalysis of observational studies. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 200:130–35
- Bravi F, Tavani A, Bosetti C, Boffetta P, La Vecchia C. 2017. Coffee and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma and chronic liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Eur. 7. Cancer Prev.* In press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.00000000000252
- Brent RL, Christian MS, Diener RM. 2011. Evaluation of the reproductive and developmental risks of caffeine. Birth Defects Res. B Dev. Reprod. Toxicol. 92:152–87
- Brown OI, Allgar V, Wong KY. 2016. Coffee reduces the risk of death after acute myocardial infarction: a meta-analysis. *Coron. Artery Dis.* 27:566–72
- Buscemi S, Marventano S, Antoci M, Cagnetti A, Castorina G, et al. 2016. Coffee and metabolic impairment: an updated review of epidemiological studies. NFS J. 3:1–7
- Cai L, Ma D, Zhang Y, Liu Z, Wang P. 2012. The effect of coffee consumption on serum lipids: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 66:872–77
- Caini S, Cattaruzza S, Bendinelli B, Tosti G, Masala G, et al. 2016. Coffee, tea and caffeine intake and the risk of non-melanoma skin cancer: a review of the literature and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 56:1–12
- Caldeira D, Martins C, Alves LB, Pereira H, Ferreira JJ, Costa J. 2013. Caffeine does not increase the risk of atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Heart* 99:1383–89
- Cao S, Liu L, Yin X, Wang Y, Liu J, Lu Z. 2014. Coffee consumption and risk of prostate cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Carcinogenesis* 35:256–61
- Chen J, Long S. 2014. Tea and coffee consumption and risk of laryngeal cancer: a systematic review meta-analysis. PLOS ONE 9:e112006
- Chen LW, Wu Y, Neelakantan N, Chong MF, Pan A, van Dam RM. 2014. Maternal caffeine intake during pregnancy is associated with risk of low birth weight: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *BMC Med.* 12:174
- Chen LW, Wu Y, Neelakantan N, Chong MF, Pan A, van Dam RM. 2016. Maternal caffeine intake during pregnancy and risk of pregnancy loss: a categorical and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Public Health Nutr*. 19:1233–44
- Chen S, Teoh NC, Chitturi S, Farrell GC. 2014. Coffee and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: brewing evidence for hepatoprotection? *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 29:435–41
- Cheng J, Su H, Zhu R, Wang X, Peng M, et al. 2014. Maternal coffee consumption during pregnancy and risk of childhood acute leukemia: a metaanalysis. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 210:151.e1–10
- Cheng M, Hu Z, Lu X, Huang J, Gu D. 2014. Caffeine intake and atrial fibrillation incidence: dose response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 30:448–54
- Chiaffarino F, Bravi F, Cipriani S, Parazzini F, Ricci E, et al. 2014. Coffee and caffeine intake and risk of endometriosis: a meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 53:1573–79
- Colussi G, De Ferrari ME, Brunati C, Civati G. 2000. Medical prevention and treatment of urinary stones. J. Nephrol. 13(Suppl. 3):S65–70
- Cornelis MC, El-Sohemy A, Kabagambe EK, Campos H. 2006. Coffee, CYP1A2 genotype, and risk of myocardial infarction. *JAMA* 295:1135–41
- Costa J, Lunet N, Santos C, Santos J, Vaz-Carneiro A. 2010. Caffeine exposure and the risk of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 20(Suppl. 1):S221–38
- Crippa A, Discacciati A, Larsson SC, Wolk A, Orsini N. 2014. Coffee consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: a dose-response meta-analysis. Am. J. Epidemiol. 180:763–75

- Deng W, Yang H, Wang J, Cai J, Bai Z, et al. 2016. Coffee consumption and the risk of incident gastric cancer—a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Nutr. Cancer* 68:40–47
- Ding M, Bhupathiraju SN, Chen M, van Dam RM, Hu FB. 2014. Caffeinated and decaffeinated coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and a dose-response meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 37:569–86
- Ding M, Bhupathiraju SN, Satija A, van Dam RM, Hu FB. 2014. Long-term coffee consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Circulation* 129:643–59
- Discacciati A, Orsini N, Wolk A. 2014. Coffee consumption and risk of nonaggressive, aggressive and fatal prostate cancer—a dose-response meta-analysis. Ann. Oncol. 25:584–91
- Dong J, Zou J, Yu XF. 2011. Coffee drinking and pancreatic cancer risk: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. World J. Gastroenterol. 17:1204–10
- Galarraga V, Boffetta P. 2016. Coffee drinking and risk of lung cancer—a meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 25:951–57
- Galeone C, Turati F, La Vecchia C, Tavani A. 2010. Coffee consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of case-control studies. *Cancer Causes Control* 21:1949–59
- Gan Y, Wu J, Zhang S, Li L, Cao S, et al. 2017. Association of coffee consumption with risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Oncotarget* 8:18699–711
- Giovannucci E. 1998. Meta-analysis of coffee consumption and risk of colorectal cancer. Am. J. Epidemiol. 147:1043–52
- Godos J, Pluchinotta FR, Marventano S, Buscemi S, Li Volti G, et al. 2014. Coffee components and cardiovascular risk: beneficial and detrimental effects. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 65:925–36
- Greenland S. 1993. A meta-analysis of coffee, myocardial infarction, and coronary death. *Epidemiology* 4:366–74
- Greenwood DC, Thatcher NJ, Ye J, Garrard L, Keogh G, et al. 2014. Caffeine intake during pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 29:725–34
- Grosso G, Micek A, Castellano S, Pajak A, Galvano F. 2016. Coffee, tea, caffeine and risk of depression: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 60:223– 34
- Hernan MA, Takkouche B, Caamano-Isorna F, Gestal-Otero JJ. 2002. A meta-analysis of coffee drinking, cigarette smoking, and the risk of Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 52:276–84
- Higdon JV, Frei B. 2006. Coffee and health: a review of recent human research. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 46:101–23
- 42. Higgins LG, Cavin C, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, Hayes JD. 2008. Induction of cancer chemopreventive enzymes by coffee is mediated by transcription factor Nrf2. Evidence that the coffee-specific diterpenes cafestol and kahweol confer protection against acrolein. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 226:328–37
- Huang TB, Guo ZF, Zhang XL, Zhang XP, Liu H, et al. 2014. Coffee consumption and urologic cancer risk: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Int. Urol. Nepbrol.* 46:1481–93
- Huber WW, Parzefall W. 2005. Modification of N-acetyltransferases and glutathione S-transferases by coffee components: possible relevance for cancer risk. *Methods Enzymol.* 401:307–41
- Huxley R, Lee CM, Barzi F, Timmermeister L, Czernichow S, et al. 2009. Coffee, decaffeinated coffee, and tea consumption in relation to incident type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review with metaanalysis. Arch. Intern. Med. 169:2053–63
- Inoue M, Tsugane S. 2012. Insulin resistance and cancer: epidemiological evidence. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* 19:F1–8
- Jahanfar S, Jaafar SH. 2015. Effects of restricted caffeine intake by mother on fetal, neonatal and pregnancy outcome. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 6:CD006965
- Je Y, Giovannucci E. 2012. Coffee consumption and risk of endometrial cancer: findings from a large up-to-date meta-analysis. *Int. J. Cancer* 131:1700–10
- Je Y, Giovannucci E. 2014. Coffee consumption and total mortality: a meta-analysis of twenty prospective cohort studies. Br. J. Nutr. 111:1162–73

- Je Y, Liu W, Giovannucci E. 2009. Coffee consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Int. 7. Cancer* 124:1662–68
- Jee SH, He J, Whelton PK, Suh I, Klag MJ. 1999. The effect of chronic coffee drinking on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. *Hypertension* 33:647–52
- Jiang W, Wu Y, Jiang X. 2013. Coffee and caffeine intake and breast cancer risk: an updated dose-response meta-analysis of 37 published studies. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 129:620–29
- Jiang X, Zhang D, Jiang W. 2014. Coffee and caffeine intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 53:25–38
- Kawachi I, Colditz GA, Stone CB. 1994. Does coffee drinking increase the risk of coronary heart disease? Results from a meta-analysis. Br. Heart J. 72:269–75
- 55. Kennedy OJ, Roderick P, Buchanan R, Fallowfield JA, Hayes PC, Parkes J. 2016. Systematic review with meta-analysis: coffee consumption and the risk of cirrhosis. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 43:562–74
- Kim B, Nam Y, Kim J, Choi H, Won C. 2012. Coffee consumption and stroke risk: a meta-analysis of epidemiologic studies. *Korean J. Fam. Med.* 33:356–65
- Kim J, Oh SW, Myung SK, Kwon H, Lee C, et al. 2014. Association between coffee intake and gastroesophageal reflux disease: a meta-analysis. *Dis. Esophagus* 27:311–17
- Kim YS, Kwak SM, Myung SK. 2015. Caffeine intake from coffee or tea and cognitive disorders: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Neuroepidemiology* 44:51–63
- Kua KP, Lee SW. 2017. Systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical outcomes of early caffeine therapy in preterm neonates. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 83:180–191
- Larsson SC, Drca N, Jensen-Urstad M, Wolk A. 2015. Coffee consumption is not associated with increased risk of atrial fibrillation: results from two prospective cohorts and a meta-analysis. *BMC Med.* 13:207
- Larsson SC, Orsini N. 2011. Coffee consumption and risk of stroke: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Am. J. Epidemiol. 174:993–1001
- Larsson SC, Wolk A. 2007. Coffee consumption and risk of liver cancer: a meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 132:1740–45
- Lee DR, Lee J, Rota M, Lee J, Ahn HS, et al. 2014. Coffee consumption and risk of fractures: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Bone* 63:20–28
- Lee YH, Bae SC, Song GG. 2014. Coffee or tea consumption and the risk of rheumatoid arthritis: a meta-analysis. *Clin. Rheumatol.* 33:1575–83
- Li G, Ma D, Zhang Y, Zheng W, Wang P. 2013. Coffee consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Public Health Nutr*. 16:346–57
- Li J, Zhao H, Song JM, Zhang J, Tang YL, Xin CM. 2015. A meta-analysis of risk of pregnancy loss and caffeine and coffee consumption during pregnancy. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 130:116–22
- Li L, Gan Y, Wu C, Qu X, Sun G, Lu Z. 2015. Coffee consumption and the risk of gastric cancer: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *BMC Cancer* 15:733
- Li S, Dai Z, Wu Q. 2015. Effect of coffee intake on hip fracture: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Nutr. J.* 14:38
- Li XJ, Ren ZJ, Qin JW, Zhao JH, Tang JH, et al. 2013. Coffee consumption and risk of breast cancer: an up-to-date meta-analysis. *PLOS ONE* 8:e52681
- 70. Li XL, Xu JH. 2013. Coffee consumption and hip fracture risk: a meta-analysis. J. Nutr. Sci. 2:e23
- Li YM, Peng J, Li LZ. 2016. Coffee consumption associated with reduced risk of oral cancer: a metaanalysis. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol. 121:381–89
- Li ZX, Gao ZL, Wang JN, Guo QH. 2016. Maternal coffee consumption during pregnancy and neural tube defects in offspring: a meta-analysis. *Fetal Pediatr. Pathol.* 35:1–9
- Lippi G, Mattiuzzi C, Franchini M. 2015. Venous thromboembolism and coffee: critical review and meta-analysis. Ann. Transl. Med. 3:152
- Liu F, Wang X, Wu G, Chen L, Hu P, et al. 2015. Coffee consumption decreases risks for hepatic fibrosis and cirrhosis: a meta-analysis. *PLOS ONE* 10:e0142457
- Liu H, Hu GH, Wang XC, Huang TB, Xu L, et al. 2015. Coffee consumption and prostate cancer risk: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Nutr. Cancer* 67:392–400

- Liu H, Hua Y, Zheng X, Shen Z, Luo H, et al. 2015. Effect of coffee consumption on the risk of gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *PLOS ONE* 10:e0128501
- 77. Liu H, Yao K, Zhang W, Zhou J, Wu T, He C. 2012. Coffee consumption and risk of fractures: a meta-analysis. *Arch. Med. Sci.* 8:776–83
- Liu J, Shen B, Shi M, Cai J. 2016. Higher caffeinated coffee intake is associated with reduced malignant melanoma risk: a meta-analysis study. *PLOS ONE* 11:e0147056
- Liu QP, Wu YF, Cheng HY, Xia T, Ding H, et al. 2016. Habitual coffee consumption and risk of cognitive decline/dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Nutrition* 32:628– 36
- Liu R, Guo X, Park Y, Huang X, Sinha R, et al. 2012. Caffeine intake, smoking, and risk of Parkinson disease in men and women. Am. J. Epidemiol. 175:1200–7
- Lu Y, Zhai L, Zeng J, Peng Q, Wang J, et al. 2014. Coffee consumption and prostate cancer risk: an updated meta-analysis. *Cancer Causes Control* 25:591–604
- Ludwig IA, Clifford MN, Lean ME, Ashihara H, Crozier A. 2014. Coffee: biochemistry and potential impact on health. *Food Funct*. 5:1695–717
- Malerba S, Galeone C, Pelucchi C, Turati F, Hashibe M, et al. 2013. A meta-analysis of coffee and tea consumption and the risk of glioma in adults. *Cancer Causes Control* 24:267–76
- Malerba S, Turati F, Galeone C, Pelucchi C, Verga F, et al. 2013. A meta-analysis of prospective studies of coffee consumption and mortality for all causes, cancers and cardiovascular diseases. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 28:527–39
- Martini D, Del Bo C, Tassotti M, Riso P, Del Rio D, et al. 2016. Coffee consumption and oxidative stress: a review of human intervention studies. *Molecules* 21:979
- Marventano S, Salomone F, Godos J, Pluchinotta F, Del Rio D, et al. 2016. Coffee and tea consumption in relation with non-alcoholic fatty liver and metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Clin. Nutr.* 35:1269–81
- Meng S, Cao J, Feng Q, Peng J, Hu Y. 2013. Roles of chlorogenic acid on regulating glucose and lipids metabolism: a review. *Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med.* 2013:801457
- Mesas AE, Leon-Munoz LM, Rodriguez-Artalejo F, Lopez-Garcia E. 2011. The effect of coffee on blood pressure and cardiovascular disease in hypertensive individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 94:1113–26
- Milne E, Royle JA, Bennett LC, de Klerk NH, Bailey HD, et al. 2011. Maternal consumption of coffee and tea during pregnancy and risk of childhood ALL: results from an Australian case-control study. *Cancer Causes Control* 22:207–18
- Moco S, Martin FP, Rezzi S. 2012. Metabolomics view on gut microbiome modulation by polyphenolrich foods. J. Proteome Res. 11:4781–90
- Moreira AS, Nunes FM, Domingues MR, Coimbra MA. 2012. Coffee melanoidins: structures, mechanisms of formation and potential health impacts. *Food Funct*. 3:903–15
- Mostofsky E, Rice MS, Levitan EB, Mittleman MA. 2012. Habitual coffee consumption and risk of heart failure: a dose-response meta-analysis. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 5:401–5
- Mulak A, Bonaz B. 2015. Brain-gut-microbiota axis in Parkinson's disease. World J. Gastroenterol. 21:10609–20
- 94. Myers MG, Basinski A. 1992. Coffee and coronary heart disease. Arch. Intern. Med. 152:1767-72
- Nehlig A. 2016. Effects of coffee/caffeine on brain health and disease: What should I tell my patients? Pract. Neurol. 16:89–95
- Nie K, Xing Z, Huang W, Wang W, Liu W. 2016. Coffee intake and risk of pancreatic cancer: an updated meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Minerva Med.* 107:270–78
- Noordzij M, Uiterwaal CS, Arends LR, Kok FJ, Grobbee DE, Geleijnse JM. 2005. Blood pressure response to chronic intake of coffee and caffeine: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J. Hypertens.* 23:921–28
- Ouyang Z, Wang Z, Jin J. 2014. Association between tea and coffee consumption and risk of laryngeal cancer: a meta-analysis. Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med. 7:5192–200
- Palatini P, Ceolotto G, Ragazzo F, Dorigatti F, Saladini F, et al. 2009. CYP1A2 genotype modifies the association between coffee intake and the risk of hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* 27:1594–601

- Pan MH, Tung YC, Yang G, Li S, Ho CT. 2016. Molecular mechanisms of the anti-obesity effect of bioactive compounds in tea and coffee. *Food Funct*. 7:4481–91
- Park CH, Myung SK, Kim TY, Seo HG, Jeon YJ, et al. 2010. Coffee consumption and risk of prostate cancer: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *BJU Int*. 106:762–69
- 102. Park KY, Kim HJ, Ahn HS, Kim SH, Park EJ, et al. 2016. Effects of coffee consumption on serum uric acid: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Semin. Artbritis Rheum.* 45:580–86
- Qi H, Li S. 2014. Dose-response meta-analysis on coffee, tea and caffeine consumption with risk of Parkinson's disease. *Geriatr. Gerontol. Int.* 14:430–39
- Ran HQ, Wang JZ, Sun CQ. 2016. Coffee consumption and pancreatic cancer risk: an update metaanalysis of cohort studies. *Pak. J. Med. Sci.* 32:253–59
- 105. Ranheim T, Halvorsen B. 2005. Coffee consumption and human health–beneficial or detrimental? Mechanisms for effects of coffee consumption on different risk factors for cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 49:274–84
- 106. Rhee J, Kim R, Kim Y, Tam M, Lai Y, et al. 2015. Maternal caffeine consumption during pregnancy and risk of low birth weight: a dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. PLOS ONE 10:e0132334
- Saab S, Mallam D, Cox GA 2nd, Tong MJ. 2014. Impact of coffee on liver diseases: a systematic review. Liver Int. 34:495–504
- Sang LX, Chang B, Li XH, Jiang M. 2013. Consumption of coffee associated with reduced risk of liver cancer: a meta-analysis. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 13:34
- Santos C, Costa J, Santos J, Vaz-Carneiro A, Lunet N. 2010. Caffeine intake and dementia: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Alzbeimers Dis.* 20(Suppl. 1):S187–204
- Shaffer EA. 2006. Gallstone disease: epidemiology of gallbladder stone disease. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol. 20:981–96
- Shang F, Li X, Jiang X. 2016. Coffee consumption and risk of the metabolic syndrome: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab. 42:80–87
- Shen Z, Liu H, Cao H. 2015. Coffee consumption and risk of gastric cancer: an updated meta-analysis. Clin. Res. Hepatol. Gastroenterol. 39:245–53
- Sheng J, Qu X, Zhang X, Zhai Z, Li H, et al. 2014. Coffee, tea, and the risk of hip fracture: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos. Int. 25:141–50
- 114. Shimamoto T, Yamamichi N, Kodashima S, Takahashi Y, Fujishiro M, et al. 2013. No association of coffee consumption with gastric ulcer, duodenal ulcer, reflux esophagitis, and non-erosive reflux disease: a cross-sectional study of 8,013 healthy subjects in Japan. PLOS ONE 8:e65996
- Sofi F, Conti AA, Gori AM, Eliana Luisi ML, Casini A, et al. 2007. Coffee consumption and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 17:209–23
- 116. Steevens J, Schouten LJ, Verhage BA, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA. 2007. Tea and coffee drinking and ovarian cancer risk: results from the Netherlands Cohort Study and a meta-analysis. *Br. J. Cancer* 97:1291–94
- Steffen M, Kuhle C, Hensrud D, Erwin PJ, Murad MH. 2012. The effect of coffee consumption on blood pressure and the development of hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Hypertens*. 30:2245–54
- Tang N, Wu Y, Ma J, Wang B, Yu R. 2010. Coffee consumption and risk of lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Lung Cancer 67:17–22
- Tang N, Zhou B, Wang B, Yu R. 2009. Coffee consumption and risk of breast cancer: a metaanalysis. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 200:290.e1–9
- 120. Thomopoulos TP, Ntouvelis E, Diamantaras AA, Tzanoudaki M, Baka M, et al. 2015. Maternal and childhood consumption of coffee, tea and cola beverages in association with childhood leukemia: a metaanalysis. *Cancer Epidemiol.* 39:1047–59
- 121. Tian C, Wang W, Hong Z, Zhang X. 2013. Coffee consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a doseresponse analysis of observational studies. *Cancer Causes Control* 24:1265–68
- 122. Timms JA, Relton CL, Rankin J, Strathdee G, McKay JA. 2016. DNA methylation as a potential mediator of environmental risks in the development of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Epigenomics* 8:519– 36

- 123. Turati F, Galeone C, Edefonti V, Ferraroni M, Lagiou P, et al. 2012. A meta-analysis of coffee consumption and pancreatic cancer. *Ann. Oncol.* 23:311–18
- 124. Turati F, Galeone C, La Vecchia C, Garavello W, Tavani A. 2011. Coffee and cancers of the upper digestive and respiratory tracts: meta-analyses of observational studies. *Ann. Oncol.* 22:536–44
- Vitaglione P, Fogliano V, Pellegrini N. 2012. Coffee, colon function and colorectal cancer. *Food Funct*. 3:916–22
- Wang J, Li X, Zhang D. 2016. Coffee consumption and the risk of cutaneous melanoma: a meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 55:1317–29
- 127. Wang L, Shen X, Wu Y, Zhang D. 2016. Coffee and caffeine consumption and depression: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 50:228–42
- Wang S, Zhang Y, Mao Z, He X, Zhang Q, Zhang D. 2014. A meta-analysis of coffee intake and risk of urolithiasis. Urol. Int. 93:220–28
- 129. Wang Y, Yu X, Wu Y, Zhang D. 2012. Coffee and tea consumption and risk of lung cancer: a doseresponse analysis of observational studies. *Lung Cancer* 78:169–70
- 130. Welsh EJ, Bara A, Barley E, Cates CJ. 2010. Caffeine for asthma. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 1:CD001112
- 131. World Health Organization. Population nutrient intake goals for preventing diet-related chronic diseases. http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/5_population_nutrient/en/. Accessed November 2015. Geneva: WHO
- 132. Wu JN, Ho SC, Zhou C, Ling WH, Chen WQ, et al. 2009. Coffee consumption and risk of coronary heart diseases: a meta-analysis of 21 prospective cohort studies. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 137:216–25
- Wu L, Sun D, He Y. 2017. Coffee intake and the incident risk of cognitive disorders: a dose-response meta-analysis of nine prospective cohort studies. *Clin. Nutr.* 36(3):730–36
- 134. Wu W, Tong Y, Zhao Q, Yu G, Wei X, Lu Q. 2015. Coffee consumption and bladder cancer: a metaanalysis of observational studies. *Sci. Rep.* 5:9051
- Xie F, Wang D, Huang Z, Guo Y. 2014. Coffee consumption and risk of gastric cancer: a large updated meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Nutrients* 6:3734–46
- Xie Y, Huang S, He T, Su Y. 2016. Coffee consumption and risk of gastric cancer: an updated metaanalysis. Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr. 25:578–88
- 137. Xie Y, Qin J, Nan G, Huang S, Wang Z, Su Y. 2016. Coffee consumption and the risk of lung cancer: an updated meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 70:199–206
- 138. Xu C, Zhang C, Wang XL, Liu TZ, Zeng XT, et al. 2015. Self-fluid management in prevention of kidney stones: a PRISMA-compliant systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. *Medicine* 94:e1042
- 139. Yang TO, Crowe F, Cairns BJ, Reeves GK, Beral V. 2015. Tea and coffee and risk of endometrial cancer: cohort study and meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 101:570–78
- 140. Yew YW, Lai YC, Schwartz RA. 2016. Coffee consumption and melanoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Am. J. Clin. Dermatol.* 17:113–23
- 141. Yu X, Bao Z, Zou J, Dong J. 2011. Coffee consumption and risk of cancers: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *BMC Cancer* 11:96
- 142. Zeegers MP, Tan FE, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA. 2001. Are coffee and tea consumption associated with urinary tract cancer risk? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 30:353–62
- 143. Zeng SB, Weng H, Zhou M, Duan XL, Shen XF, Zeng XT. 2015. Long-term coffee consumption and risk of gastric cancer: a PRISMA-compliant dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Medicine* 94:e1640
- 144. Zhang X, Albanes D, Beeson WL, van den Brandt PA, Buring JE, et al. 2010. Risk of colon cancer and coffee, tea, and sugar-sweetened soft drink intake: pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 102:771–83
- 145. Zhang Y, Lee ET, Cowan LD, Fabsitz RR, Howard BV. 2011. Coffee consumption and the incidence of type 2 diabetes in men and women with normal glucose tolerance: the Strong Heart Study. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 21:418–23
- 146. Zhang Y, Wang X, Cui D. 2015. Association between coffee consumption and the risk of oral cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med. 8:11657–65

- 147. Zhang Y, Yang T, Zeng C, Wei J, Li H, et al. 2016. Is coffee consumption associated with a lower risk of hyperuricaemia or gout? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 6:e009809
- Zhang YP, Li WQ, Sun YL, Zhu RT, Wang WJ. 2015. Systematic review with meta-analysis: coffee consumption and the risk of gallstone disease. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 42:637–48
- Zhao Y, Wu K, Zheng J, Zuo R, Li D. 2015. Association of coffee drinking with all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public Health Nutr.* 18:1282–91
- 150. Zheng JS, Yang J, Fu YQ, Huang T, Huang YJ, Li D. 2013. Effects of green tea, black tea, and coffee consumption on the risk of esophageal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutr. Cancer* 65:1–16
- 151. Zhong S, Chen W, Yu X, Chen Z, Hu Q, Zhao J. 2014. Coffee consumption and risk of prostate cancer: an up-to-date meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 68:330–37
- 152. Zhou J, Zhou S, Zeng S. 2013. Experimental diabetes treated with trigonelline: effect on β cell and pancreatic oxidative parameters. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 27:279–87
- 153. Zhou Q, Luo ML, Li H, Li M, Zhou JG. 2015. Coffee consumption and risk of endometrial cancer: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Sci. Rep.* 5:13410
- Zhou Y, Tian C, Jia C. 2012. A dose-response meta-analysis of coffee consumption and bladder cancer. Prev. Med. 55:14–22
- 155. Zuchinali P, Ribeiro PA, Pimentel M, da Rosa PR, Zimerman LI, Rohde LE. 2016. Effect of caffeine on ventricular arrhythmia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental and clinical studies. *Europace* 18:257–66
- 156. Zulli A, Smith RM, Kubatka P, Novak J, Uehara Y, et al. 2016. Caffeine and cardiovascular diseases: critical review of current research. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 55:1331–43

ANNUAL REVIEWS Connect With Our Experts



New From Annual Reviews:

Annual Review of Cancer Biology cancerbio.annualreviews.org · Volume 1 · March 2017

ONLINE NOW!

Co-Editors: Tyler Jacks, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

Charles L. Sawyers, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center

The Annual Review of Cancer Biology reviews a range of subjects representing important and emerging areas in the field of cancer research. The Annual Review of Cancer Biology includes three broad themes: Cancer Cell Biology, Tumorigenesis and Cancer Progression, and Translational Cancer Science.

TABLE OF CONTENTS FOR VOLUME 1:

- How Tumor Virology Evolved into Cancer Biology and Transformed Oncology, Harold Varmus and and the Varmus and the Varmus
- The Role of Autophagy in Cancer, Naiara Santana-Codina, Joseph D. Mancias, Alec C. Kimmelman
- Cell Cycle–Targeted Cancer Therapies, Charles J. Sherr, Jiri Bartek
- Ubiquitin in Cell-Cycle Regulation and Dysregulation in Cancer, Natalie A. Borg, Vishva M. Dixit
- The Two Faces of Reactive Oxygen Species in Cancer, Colleen R. Reczek, Navdeep S. Chandel
- Analyzing Tumor Metabolism In Vivo, Brandon Faubert, Ralph J. DeBerardinis
- Stress-Induced Mutagenesis: Implications in Cancer and Drug Resistance, Devon M. Fitzgerald, P.J. Hastings, Susan M. Rosenberg
- Synthetic Lethality in Cancer Therapeutics, Roderick L. Beijersbergen, Lodewyk F.A. Wessels, René Bernards
- Noncoding RNAs in Cancer Development, Chao-Po Lin, Lin He
- *p53: Multiple Facets of a Rubik's Cube*, Yun Zhang, Guillermina Lozano
- Resisting Resistance, Ivana Bozic, Martin A. Nowak
- Deciphering Genetic Intratumor Heterogeneity and Its Impact on Cancer Evolution, Rachel Rosenthal, Nicholas McGranahan, Javier Herrero, Charles Swanton

- Immune-Suppressing Cellular Elements of the Tumor Microenvironment, Douglas T. Fearon
- Overcoming On-Target Resistance to Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Lung Cancer, Ibiayi Dagogo-Jack, Jeffrey A. Engelman, Alice T. Shaw
- Apoptosis and Cancer, Anthony Letai
- Chemical Carcinogenesis Models of Cancer: Back to the Future, Melissa Q. McCreery, Allan Balmain
- Extracellular Matrix Remodeling and Stiffening Modulate Tumor Phenotype and Treatment Response, Jennifer L. Leight, Allison P. Drain, Valerie M. Weaver
- Aneuploidy in Cancer: Seq-ing Answers to Old Questions, Kristin A. Knouse, Teresa Davoli, Stephen J. Elledge, Angelika Amon
- The Role of Chromatin-Associated Proteins in Cancer, Kristian Helin, Saverio Minucci
- Targeted Differentiation Therapy with Mutant IDH Inhibitors: Early Experiences and Parallels with Other Differentiation Agents, Eytan Stein, Katharine Yen
- Determinants of Organotropic Metastasis, Heath A. Smith, Yibin Kang
- Multiple Roles for the MLL/COMPASS Family in the Epigenetic Regulation of Gene Expression and in Cancer, Joshua J. Meeks, Ali Shilatifard
- Chimeric Antigen Receptors: A Paradigm Shift in Immunotherapy, Michel Sadelain

ANNUAL REVIEWS | CONNECT WITH OUR EXPERTS

650.493.4400/800.523.8635 (us/can) www.annualreviews.org | service@annualreviews.org

iews.org ie only.



υ

Annual Review of Nutrition

Volume 37, 2017

Contents

Nutrition from the Inside Out Dennis M. Bier 1
The Best of Times Johanna T. Dwyer
β-Hydroxybutyrate: A Signaling Metabolite John C. Newman and Eric Verdin
 Fatty Acids and NLRP3 Inflammasome–Mediated Inflammation in Metabolic Tissues Jessica C. Ralston, Claire L. Lyons, Elaine B. Kennedy, Anna M. Kirwan, and Helen M. Roche
Lipocalin 2: An Emerging Player in Iron Homeostasis and Inflammation <i>Xia Xiao, Beng San Yeob, and Matam Vijay-Kumar</i>
Coffee, Caffeine, and Health Outcomes: An Umbrella Review Giuseppe Grosso, Justyna Godos, Fabio Galvano, and Edward L. Giovannucci
Trimethylamine <i>N</i> -Oxide, the Microbiome, and Heart and Kidney Disease <i>Steven H. Zeisel and Manya Warrier</i>
Brain on Fire: Incentive Salience, Hedonic Hot Spots, Dopamine, Obesity, and Other Hunger Games Jameason D. Cameron, Jean-Philippe Chaput, Anders M. Sjödin, and Gary S. Goldfield
Holocarboxylase Synthetase: A Moonlighting Transcriptional Coregulator of Gene Expression and a Cytosolic Regulator of Biotin Utilization <i>Alfonso León-Del-Río, Viviana Valadez-Graham, and Roy A. Gravel</i>
Genetic Basis for Sex Differences in Obesity and Lipid Metabolism <i>Jenny C. Link and Karen Reue</i>

FGF23 and Nutritional Metabolism Lindsay R. Pool and Myles Wolf	7
Genetic Risk Factors for Folate-Responsive Neural Tube Defects Anne M. Molloy, Faith Pangilinan, and Lawrence C. Brody	9
Nature, Nurture, and Cancer Risks: Genetic and Nutritional Contributions to Cancer Evropi Theodoratou, Maria Timofeeva, Xue Li, Xiangrui Meng, and John P.A. Ioannidis	3
Dietary Phosphorus Intake and the Kidney Alex R. Chang and Cheryl Anderson 32	1
Long-Term Effects of High-Protein Diets on Renal Function Anne-Lise Kamper and Svend Strandgaard	7
Metabolic Effects of Intermittent Fasting Ruth E. Patterson and Dorothy D. Sears 37	1
Single-Subject Studies in Translational Nutrition Research Nicholas J. Schork and Laura H. Goetz	5
Dietary Fat and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: Recent Controversies and Advances Dong D. Wang and Frank B. Hu	3
The Nexus Between Nutrition and Early Childhood Development Harold Alderman and Lia Fernald	7
The Hibernator Microbiome: Host-Bacterial Interactions in an Extreme Nutritional Symbiosis Hannab V. Carey and Fariba M. Assadi-Porter	7

Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 33–37	. 501
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 33–37	. 504

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Nutrition* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/nutr